IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



JAN 19 1990

 $\mathbf{A}$ 

CASE NO. 73,988

ERNEST CHARLES DOWNS,

Appellant,

۷.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS **#271543** ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH **301** SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA **32301** (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before this court because the trial court resentenced Earnest Downs to death for the second time. An amended indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Duval County on August 11, 1977 charged Downs with one count of first degree murder and one count of conspiracy to commit first degree murder (R 3-5). He was tried and found guilty of both offenses and sentenced to death (R 6-14), and this court affirmed the convictions and sentences.<sup>1</sup> <u>Downs v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1980). This court also affirmed Downs' subsequent motion for Post-conviction relief, <u>Downs v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1984), and his Petition for a Writ of Habeus Corpus. <u>Downs v. Wainwright</u>, 476 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1985).

In 1987, the governor signed a warrant for Downs' death, but this court stayed his execution. It vacated the sentence of death and remanded for a new sentencing hearing because the trial court had limited what the jury could consider in mitigation, a violation of <u>Hitchcock v. Dugqer</u>, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987); <u>Downs v. Duqger</u>, 514 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1987). Upon remand, Downs filed several motions relevant to this appeal:

1. A Motion that only two aggravating circumstances be read ot the jury (R 126). Denied. (R 194).

2. A motion to recuse the State Attorney's Office (R 128). Denied (R 191).

- 1 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Downs received a concurrent 30 year sentence for the conspiracy conviction (R 7).

3. A motion to disqualify Honorable Judge Dorothy Pate (R 250). Denied (R 268).

4. A motion to challenge the P,S,I,/confidential evaluation and for de novo report (R 255). Denied (R 269).

Downs also filed a notice that he intended to use the perpetuated testimony of a Bobby Jo Michael (R 123). He waived counsel (R 202), and the court, after conducting an inquiry, allowed Downs to represent himself (R 46-47).

Downs and the State presented evidence at the resentencing trial, and the jury, after hearing it recommended death by a vote of 8 to 4. The court followed that recommendation and sentenced Downs to death. Justifying that sentence, the court found three aggravating factors:

- 1. Downs had a prior conviction of a violent felony.
- 2. He committed the murder for pecuniary gain.
- 3. He committed the murder in a cold, calculated and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification (R 312).

The court, in its sentencing order, never articulated what mitigation it found, although the order suggests it found some mitigation (R 312).

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Ron Garelick wanted his business partner, Jerry Harris, dead so he could collect on the one half million dollar insurance policies written on Harris' life, which Garelick was the beneficiary (T 414). In April 1976 he found four men, John Barfield, Ricky Barfield, Gary Sapp, and Huey Palmer, who were willing to kill Harris (T 701).<sup>2</sup> Although they tried to kill him on at least three occasions, they never succeeded. (T 701-702).

# LARRY JOHNSON'S VERSION OF WHAT THEN HAPPENED.

On 18 April 1977, John Barfield approached Larry Johnson and Ernest Downs about killing Harris (T 703). There was some discussion about the money (\$ 5,000), and either Downs or Johnson said they would kill Harris at the first opportunity (T 549, 704). Barfield told them they could get to Harris by calling him about doing some flying for a Joe Green (T 548).

On the evening of 23 April, Johnson called Harris, identified himself as Joe Green, and said he wanted to meet with Harris (T 555). He agreed to the meeting. According to Johnson, he did not want to kill Harris; instead Downs forced him to make the telephone call and go with him (T 555).

Downs dropped Johnson off at the end of a dirt road, gave him a .45 caliber machine gun, then went to pick up Harris

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Sapp said he had bought a gun from Larry Johnson to use in killing Harris (T 447).

(T-556). When Downs and Harris returned, Johnson said his name was not Joe Green, that he had used it only as an alias (T 558). Downs then came out of the car and shot Harris with a .25 automatic pistol (T 559). Downs stumbled backward, and as he did so, he fired three more times, stumbled some more and fired another three shots (T 559). He fired another shot at Harris's head (T 560). Afterward, the two men dragged Harris' body into a wooded area nearby (T 566). Harris' identification was taken and Johnson took some money from the body (T 567). Johnson gave Downs another bullet, and he shot Harris a final time (T 567). They left the area but returned shortly to retrieve the gun Johnson said he had hidden (T 568). He threw the gun away sometime later (T 575).

The next morning Downs showed Barfield Harris' driver's license and told him he wanted the money (T 576). Barfield eventually paid him about \$4200 and gave him a pool table (T 578). Johnson got a Corvette (T 579).

Over the next several weeks, Downs and Johnson went to the Florida Keys, Mexico, Texas, and Alabama (T 580). Johnson left Downs in Alabama and returned to Jacksonville. He eventually told a sheriff's detective that he knew something about Harris' disappearance (T 580-581). The State Attorney gave Johnson complete immunity from prosecution on the condition that he had not killed Harris (T 582).

- 4 -

#### DOWNS' VERSION OF WHAT HAD HAPPENED.

On 18 April 1977 Barfield approached Downs about whether he and Johnson wanted to kill Harris for \$5,000 (T 949-950). Johnson was willing to kill Harris, and he suggested a couple of places to do it (T 951-952). Eventually, however, Johnson, Barfield, and Downs agreed that a particular dead end road would be the best place to kill Harris (T 954).

On 23 April, Barfield gave Johnson Harris' telephone number and told him Harris would be expecting a telephone call that night from a Ralph Green (T 955). By this time, Downs had second thoughts about murdering Harris. By chance, he had recently discovered dozens of pictures showing his wife having sexual relations with men and women (T 946). When he confronted her with those pictures, she refused to talk (T 946-947). A short time later, she left Downs, and he was spending all his time trying to find her (T 956).

Despite or may because of his pre-occupation with his wife, Downs agreed to help Johnson. After Johnson made the telephone call, he dropped Downs off at the end of the dirt road (T 957). Alone, Downs changed his mind about helping commit the murder, and went to his grandmother's house where Johnson found him (T 957). The next day Downs and Johnson saw Barfield, and Johnson showed him Harris' driver's license (T

- 5 -

**958).** He also had some money that he had taken off Harris' body. **3** 

When Barfield was slow in paying the **\$5,000**, Johnson became mad. Downs, to avoid anybody getting hurt, gave Johnson a Corvette, and he used the money he eventually got from Barfield to pay the loan on the car (T**960**).

Afterward, Johnson and Downs went to the Florida Keys, Mexico, Texas, and Alabama. While in Alabama, the men had a falling out, and Johnson returned to Jacksonville. The same day, a policeman in Alabama stopped Downs and told him he had a tip Downs did not have proper registration for the car (T965). Downs said he wanted to talk with somebody from the FBI, and when two agents showed up, he told them he had information about the disappearance of Jerry Harris (T965). Downs admitted involvement in Harris' murder when questioned (T425), and he waived any objection to his extradition. When he returned to Jacksonville he learned that Johnson had said he was the triggerman (T966).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Johnson told Gary Sapp that he had "taken care of" Harris (T452). John Barfield also said Johnson told him he had killed Harris (T705, 707).

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

As expected, all of the issues in this brief deal with the sentence. Several deal specifically with imposition of a death sentence while others focus on various evidentiary rulings the court made.

In the first issue, Downs argued that the trial ignored a wealth of mitigating evidence when it sentenced him to death. He says this because the court's sentencing order makes only a cryptic reference to any mitigating evidence. Mentioning the mitigating evidence only in passing does not aid this court's review of the case.

The error becomes more apparent here because Downs presented a lot of evidence that mitigated his death sentence. From the evidence he presented emerged a portrait of a hard working, well respected man. Discovering his wife's bizarre infidelity demolished his emotional stability which contributed to him going along with the murder scheme.

When Downs' case is compared with other similar cases, Downs fares very well. In other contract killings, the defendant is particularly onerous, or the circumstances surrounding the crime justify a death sentence. Not so here. With Downs' good reputation and the lack of any other significant aggravation, this is not a death case.

It is also not a death case because Larry Johnson was as involved with the planning and execution as Downs, yet he received total immunity. The only distinction was that Johnson said Downs pulled the trigger, but such a minor distinction

- 7 -

should not justify such an extreme difference between the two men.

At the time of Downs' resentencing, Johnson could not be found. Johnson's testimony was critical to the State's case in Downs' 1988 resentencing, so it read his guilt phase testimony in Downs' 1977 guilt phase trial. But this testimony was inadmissible because Downs' motive to develop Johnsons' testimony for sentencing was greatly different than that for crossexamining him during the guilt phase of the trial. The trial court erred in admitting it.

Downs wanted to ask Ed Austin, the State Attorney who had granted Johnson immunity, why he had done so. The court refused to let him, and that refusal was error. It was error because in granting Johnson immunity, the state had, in essence, said it believed Johnson's version of what happened. Downs wanted to question Austin about the basis of his granting that immunity. Austin said, at the original sentencing hearing, he had granted Johnson immunity because he had passed a polygraph test. If Downs could have brought that fact to the jury's attention they may not have given Johnson's testimony as much weight.

The court also excluded Downs from introducing the perpetuated deposition of a Bobbie Jo Michael. She would have said that Downs was with her about the time Harris was killed. The court refused to let Downs present this evidence because it was relevant to his guilt, which was not an issue at sentencing. The court missed the point, though. The evidence was also

- 8 -

relevant to show Downs was not the triggerman, the crucial issue at the resentencing trial. Excluding Michael's testimony because it showed his innocence ignores its relevance to show he was not the triggerman.

The court also erred when it refused to tell the jury that it could consider any lingering doubts they might have that Downs was the triggerman as mitigating evidence. It refused to grant this instruction because it believed that opinions of this court and the U.S. Supreme Court precluded jury consideration of doubt as to <u>quilt</u> as a mitigating factor. This case did not present that scenario: instead it was doubt as to who was the triggerman, an entirely different issue, and one which the jury could have properly considered.

The court also erred in excluding several mitigating items of evidence. Downs wanted to present evidence that in 1977 Barfield had tried to kill Downs. This was relevant to show he had a bias against Downs in 1977, and it would have explained why he implicated Downs directly in the murder of Harris in 1977.

Downs also wanted to show that Larry Johnson was an alcoholic. Such evidence was relevant to Johnson's ability to remember and his propensity to use violence.

During its deliberations, the jury asked the court if Downs would receive credit for the time he had already spent in prison for the murder and conspiracy. The court, over objection, said he would. That was incorrect, because by doings so,

- 9 -

the court invited the jury to speculate about Downs' future dangerousness, an impermissible aggravating factor in Florida.

Finally, in sentencing Downs' to death, the court said he committed the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. That was an ex post facto application of the law.

## ARGUMENTS

#### ISSUE I

# THE COURT ERRED IN EITHER FAILING TO FIND ANY MITIGATION OR IN NOT STATING WITH UNMISTAKABLE CLARITY WHAT MITIGATION IT FOUND.

The court's sentencing order in this case is very short (R 312-313). It treated the mitigating evidence with a similar brevity, "The Court does not find mitigating factors to offset or overcome the aggravating circumstances in this case." (R 312). That short finding has two problems. First, its order lacks the unmistakable clarity this court requires, and second, it ignored the extensive mitigation presented at the resentencing hearing. <u>Mann v. State</u>, 420 \$0.2d 578 (Fla. 1981); <u>Rogers</u> <u>v. State</u>, 511 \$0.2d 526 (Fla. 1987).

In <u>Mann</u> this court said that a trial judge's findings regarding a death sentence "should be of unmistakable clarity so that [the Supreme Court] can properly review them and not speculate as to what [the trial court] found..." <u>Id</u>. at 581. Here, the court impliedly found some mitigation because the sentencing order said the mitigating factors did not outweigh the aggravating factors. What it specifically found is not apparent from the sentencing order or the sentencing hearing (T 1206-1207). It is also not apparent from the trial court's original sentencing order because it found nothing in mitigation then (R 9-11). The trial court, in short, has forced this court to speculate about what it considered in mitigation. To have placed this court in that position was error. The court also erred in saying nothing about the extensive mitigating evidence Downs presented. In <u>Rogers</u>, <u>supra</u>, this court articulated a two step analysis a trial court should use to decide if mitigation exists and should be considered:

(T)he trial court's first task in reaching its conclusions is to consider whether the facts alleged in mitigation are supported by the evidence. After the factual findings have been made, the court then must determine whether the established facts are of a kind capable of mitigating the defendant's punishment, i.e., factors that, in fairness or in the totality of the defendant's life or character may be considered as extenuating or reducing the degree of moral culpability for the crime committed.

## Id. at 534.

If the evidence supports a finding of some mitigation, the court must find it. Whether that mitigation outweighs whatever aggravating factors the court may have also found is a decision it must make, but the court cannot simply ignore the mitigating evidence or refuse to recognize what is patently present. Here, Downs presented an abundance of mitigating evidence the court should have considered. This evidence explained, if not excused, his uncharacteristic behavior.

## THE MITIGATING FACTS

Since 1970 Downs had lived an honest life and worked hard. His unfortunate childhood was the result of his alcoholic father beating, abusing, and ultimately abandoning him and his family (T 867, 900). Downs, being the oldest child, tried as best he could to support his mother, brothers, and sisters. In the mid-sixties, when he was sixteen years old, he joined the army (T 868, 903-904), and the army did not discover his age until it had ordered him to Vietnam (T904, 931). It rescinded those orders and placed Downs in a "holding" status until it could discharge him (T931).<sup>4</sup> Downs left the army without permission. While AWOL he robbed one person and tried to rob another when he had run out of money and was hungry and cold (T 932-933).<sup>5</sup> For those offenses he was given a suspended sentence of ten to twenty-one years with the condition that he spend three years on probation (T933). He violated probation and was sentenced to prison. Downs violated probation when he left the foster home where he was living and returned to his mother and grandmother (T935). He was released in 1970 and came to Jacksonville where he got a job as a common laborer (T 940).

From then until 1977, he lived a law abiding life. He held several jobs, mostly in construction. His employers uniformly liked, trusted, and respected Downs (T 796, 845). While in prison, he had taken courses in welding and drafting, and because of those skills Downs moved up in his world (T 941-942). Eventually he became a superintendent of a construction company (T 942), and that job ended only because the owner of the company died (T 942). From construction in Jacksonville, Downs went to Ripley's Believe it or Not in St. Augustine where he was a magician (T 942).

<sup>4</sup>Downs was honorably discharged (see defense Exhibit 86). <sup>5</sup>The weapon he used was a toy gun (T932).

- 13 -

Downs returned to Jacksonville, and he started a construction company. By **1977** it was a success.

Downs got married and started a family. He was a good provider, and he worked hard to take care of his home (T 841). Although the marriage did not last (T 897), Downs provided child support for his daughter and visited her (T 841). At least once after he was sentenced to death, his ex-wife brought their daughter to the prison for him to see and to get some counseling. She had become difficult to handle (T 898), and as his ex-wife said at the resentencing, what he told her helped **a** lot (T 898). Throughout all that Downs has been through, he and his former wife have remained friends (T 841).

Downs, in short, was a hard working, ambitious man who was well liked and respected. Even when he was in prison, he made the best of a bad situation. He earned his GED; he took courses in welding, drafting, and mathematics (T 936).

If prison did not smother his ambition, it also did not dampen his inherent sense of decency. While in prison in Oklahoma, he protected a guard during a prison riot (T 938-940). Since being kept on death row, he provided Richard Dugger, then prison superintendent of Florida State Prison, valuable information regarding potential problems in the prison such as escapes. He also retrieved knives and escape paraphernalia (T 79-80, 685). On other occasions he has helped prevent inmate murders (T 80). He did this without any intent to get favorable treatment from Dugger (T680-685), and by helping the

- 14 -

prison administration, he exposed himself to probable inmate retaliation (T 81).

Downs' law abiding spirit and efforts to make the best of a bad situation differ from most of the inmates in prison and on death row. He does not have the anti-social personality disorders, the mental illnesses, or the proneness to violence that characterizes most death row inmates (T 875). He is an anomaly among death row inmates. He did carry with him from childhood a latent insecurity about his manhood that his second wife, Robin, brought to the surface (T 887).

She had engaged in homosexual and other pornographic activities after she married Downs (T 870). Downs discovered this by chance when he found dozens of photographs showing her having sexual relations with other men and women (T 946). Mad and devastated by what his wife had done (T 887), he confronted her. She was vague about the pictures and refused to talk to him (T 946-947); instead, she disappeared, and Downs spent days trying to find her.

Robin's infidelity destroyed Downs. His confidence evaporated and was replaced by his latent feelings of inadequacy (T 887). The stress caused by his discovery impaired his judgment. His cognitive and emotional faculties were depleted (T 890). It was during this adjustment crisis, that Barfield approached him (T 948).

Downs had changed. He got a girl friend, and when Barfield approached him, he was initially interested (T 950).

- 15 -

Several mitigating circumstances arise from these facts. First, Downs' undisputed reputation for being a hard worker and good employee can mitigate a death sentence. <u>Proffitt v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1987). When he was in prison, Downs sought to improve himself. Such a demonstrated capability to live productively while in prison is mitigation. <u>Holsworth v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1988).

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