IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERNEST CHARLES DOWNS,

Appellant,

vs 🛛

Case No. 73,988

STATE OF FLORIDA,

ĺ

Appellee.

SID J. WHITE MAR 6 1990 CLERK, SOURCE COURT Deputy Cierti

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

1

On Appeal From the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD E. DORAN DIRECTOR, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0325104

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The death penalty imposed against Appellant was reversed by this Court due to *Hitchcoch* error in the jury instructions. The trial court, after a unanimous jury verdict for death, had previously sentenced Downs to death finding two aggravating factors and no mitigation of any nature. Upon resentencing, the jury recommended death again, this time by a vote of 8-4. The trial court found the original two aggravating factors and added the factor of cold, calculated and premeditated murder. However, she merged that factor with pecuniary gain. The court again found no mitigating evidence to outweigh these aggravating factors and imposed death.

The first two issues raised by Appellant essentially ask this Court to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court and the jury regarding the propriety of the death penalty. This was cold-blooded, execution-style murder for money. The death penalty is appropriate in situations such as this and neither of these first two claims merits much discussion.

Issue III concerns the admission of testimony which was not objected to at trial. Accordingly, it is waived for purposes of appeal. Furthermore, any error in the denial of the admission would be harmless in the context of this proceeding.

Issue IV raises the question of whether Appellant should have been entitled to subpoena State Attorney Austin and obtain his testimony so that he could "attack the State's credibility."

- 5 -

No Florida case law specifically addresses this point and Appellant has cited none in support of his position. Appellee relies on a decision from the Supreme Court of Wyoming which contains an exhaustive review of federal and other state law on this point. Under those cases, the standard is simply whether the trial court abused its discretion. Under the facts of this case, no such abuse can be found to exist. Furthermore, any error in this respect would be harmless given the cumulative nature of the excluded evidence.

In Issue V, Appellant argues that the court erred in excluding a perpetuated deposition from Appellant's grandmother. This deposition was agreed to by the State for the limited purpose of litigating a 3.850 motion in 1982. But for the State's limited agreement, the deposition would have never existed. Appellant should not be entitled to complain about its existence based on this earlier stipulation. Second, the deposition relates strictly to Appellant's guilt or innocence as Ms. Michael's testimony would have been an <u>alibi</u> for Downs at the time of the crime. This Court has already resolved that Downs was in fact the triggerman in this murder.

Review of the deposition will show it is replete with improper hearsay and other evidentiary problems all subject to timely State objection. The State would not have been able to effectively refute this hearsay by cross-examination and therefore it would not have been appropriate to allow the entire document to be read into evidence. Lastly, any error in the exclu-

- 6 -

sion of this deposition would be harmless because there was other testimony on the same theory.

Issue VI pertains to the whimsical doubt theory that Downs, although convicted, might not have been the triggerman. This Court has twice found that Downs was the triggerman. The trial court did not err in denying a special instruction on this theory as it gave the standard jury instruction on mitigating evidence. This Court has repeatedly approved that instruction in similar situations.

Issue VII is a complaint regarding a number of evidentiary matters. Some of the them were not preserved for appellate review. Others focused upon evidence which did not fall within even the broad range of permitted evidence under *Lockett* or *Eddings*. The trial court afforded broad leeway to the defense and any error in this context would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

In Issue VIII, Appellant complains about the trial court's instruction to the jury regarding credit he would be given for time already served in prison. Appellant opened the door to this inquiry due to his improper and misleading argument to the jury during closing argument. The doctrine of invited error includes reversal on this point. Furthermore, the trial court properly instructed the jury as to its question.

Issue IX is a complaint regarding the Appellant's absence during a critical stage of trial. Although the Appellant was

- 7 -

absent when the jury presented its question to the court, the cases indicate that where the question is strictly legal, as was true here, the error would be harmless. In this case, the record reflects that Downs later argued his rationale for not answering the jury's question. Thus, this Court can compare his argument with that of his attorney and establish that it would not have any impact upon the trial court's ultimate decision. Accordingly, this error is harmless.

Finally, in Issue X, Appellant complains about retroactive application of the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor. This Court has repeatedly rejected this argument in cases such as *Combs v. State*. Furthermore, the record reflects the trial court merged that aggravating with pecuniary gain. Thus, any error in application would be rendered harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The same trial court had given the death penalty previously and there is nothing that indicates that the result would be different in this context.

Appellant has failed to show any violation of his constitutional rights and as such, this appeal should be denied on all points.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN EITHER FAILING TO FIND ANY MITIGATION OR IN NOT STATING WITH UNMISTAKABLE CLARITY WHAT MITIGA-TION IT FOUND.

The Appellant has misplaced the focus of this entire proceeding. The case was reversed and remanded for further consideration by a jury pursuant *Hitchcock u. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987), see Downs *u. Dugger*, 514 So.2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1987). The Court's concern was that had the jury been properly instructed, it may have rendered a recommendation of life in prison as opposed to death by electrocution. Id. at 1072.

We stress this point with the Court because it appears the Appellant is seeking to reargue points that are no longer in dispute. On two prior occasions, direct appeal and appeal of the denial of a Rule 3.850 motion, this Court has stated in no uncertain terms that Ernest Downs' culpability made capital punishment the appropriate punishment for his case. Indeed, in discussing the 3.850 appeal, this Court unanimously held that assuming that his trial counsel had not rendered him professionally competent representation, that error would not have prejudiced Downs' in either his conviction or his sentence. 453 So.2d at 1109.

The trial court did not err in providing a sentencing order which did not specifically delineate its findings on statutory or

- 9 -

nonstatutory mitigating evidence. Recall the trial court initially entered a detailed sentencing order discussing the statutory, aggravating and mitigating factors and that order appears in this Court's opinion at 386 So.2d 792-93. Those findings have never been set aside by this Court and obviously reflect the trial court's findings of fact regarding statutory mitigation.

Nothing presented by Mr. Downs at his resentencing hearing would impact upon any of those findings. The evidence presented by the Appellant at his resentencing focused on three types of nonstatutory mitigating evidence:

> (1) Evidence suggesting that Downs was not the "triggerman" and might not have been present at the crime scene.

> (2) "Skipper v. South Carolina evidence" evidence indicating that Downs has been a model prisoner and subject to a degree of rehabilitation.

> (3) "Family evidence" - evidence dealing with a variety of aspects of Downs' life which was relevant to this case. Examples include the evidence concerning the pornographic pictures of his ex-wife and Dr. Krops' expert opinion regarding the impact those pictures had upon Downs; evidence indicating Downs was a loving father to his child; evidence of Downs' childhood including evidence of child abuse and lack of a strong male role model.

Downs also presented testimony seeking to soften certain of the aggravating factors. For example, Downs sought to mitigate the State's argument regarding prior conviction of a violent felony by explaining the circumstances leading up to and surrounding his conviction for armed robbery in Kansas. However, a review of the current record should convince this Court that none of that evidence could in any way impact any of the statutory mitigating factors in this case.²

The trial court's written order and her comments during the hearing indicate she considered the presentation of mitigating evidence and found it did not outweigh the aggravating factors. For example, the court told Mr. Downs:

> THE COURT: I'm not going to make this long. Okay? You know certainly you, again as I said before, in this trial have shown respect to the court, and I think you have handled yourself very well. I certainly see some maturity, I guess, or good things since you have appeared before me before. You were a different man in '77 than you probably are today. It comes down to it's a legal decision.

> And I found the three aggravating circumstances that you probably would expect, the prior felonies, the fact that it was done for money, and also that it was cold, premeditated, and calculated, I think is the other word. And I would find that those last two merge in together in this kind of case

² The jury was only instructed as to the availability of the following statutory mitigating factors: (1) the crime was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; (2) that the defendant was an accomplice in the offense and that his participation was relatively minor; and (3) that the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the law was substantially impaired. The jury was further instructed to consider "any other aspect of the defendant's character or record and any other circumstances of the offense." (TR 1136-37). There was no objection at any time by the defense to these instructions.

because I can't think of any case where it's a murder for hire that would not involve money and would not be cold, calculated and premeditated.

So, essentially, although I found three aggravating factors, I find that those two kind of merge together, and that there are two aggravating factors.

As far as you are concerned, the unfortunate part is I did not find the mitigating circumstances to overcome those. And I think you deserve to know that I really cannot accept your -- I do not find credible your testimony that you were not at the scene.

You know, Barfield at this trial changed a bunch of testimony, and the state I think impeached him very well from his testimony at his trial back in 77, 78 and I think that would be more believable when he was, so to speak, under the gun himself subject to the death penalty. And, of course, then your sister gave her deposition back in '77. Her testimony was impeached without the corroboration -- I just do not accept your version, and I don't believe the jury, and anyone, would have returned this recommendation if they had accepted it.

Let me just say that you were the first person that I ever sentenced to death, and it took a lot out of me, and the same applies today.

(TR 1206-07). The trial court's remarks in open court are echoed in her written sentence. (R 312). In that written order, the court states "The court does not find mitigating factors to offset or overcome the aggravating circumstances in this case." It is of course appropriate for this Court to consider the trial court's oral pronouncement in connection with the written sentencing order. *Bryan v. State*, 533 So.2d 744, 748 (Fla. 1988); *Thompson v. State*, 328 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1976). The trial court obviously considered and weighed the testimony of the witnesses presented as evidenced by her comments regarding the credibility of the witnesses and the State's ability to impeach them. This case is similar to *Rutherford v. State*, 545 So.2d 853, 856 (Fla. 1989), wherein this Court rejected a defendant's complaint that the trial court failed to consider mitigating evidence regarding background and nonviolent character:

The evidence that Rutherford had served in the armed forces in Viet Nam may be considered by a trial judge as а mitigating factor, but need not be. The judge's order did mention a number of aggravating and mitigating factors found, but from the instruction he read to the jury it is clear that he knew is a weighing process, this not а mechanical case of addition.

The trial court's understanding of its role in assessing the propriety of capital punishment in this case is bolstered by this Court's implicit recognition in *Downs v. Dugger, supra,* that the trial court did consider nonstatutory mitigating evidence in Appellant's case. In response to the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus predicated upon the *Hitchcock* decision, undersigned counsel raised three arguments in support of the trial court's original order. In argument I, the State argued that there was no error with the standard jury instruction presented in this case. In argument II, the State argued that the trial court did not limit herself to consideration of statutory mitigating circumstances in making the ultimate decision on the death penalty. Last, the State argued that any error in the *Hitchcock* context would be harmless error. A copy of the State's response to the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is attached to this brief as State's Appendix A.

In resolving the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, this Court addressed only the jury instruction and harmless error This Court can, of course, take notice of its files issues. regarding Downs' prior litigation in seeking to resolve this matter. Those records will clearly evidence that Judge Pate has always considered and carefully assessed any and all evidence presented by Mr. Downs in an attempt to mitigate his sentence. found it utterly lacking She has, however, in value. Accordingly, there is no error in regard to the order that she has prepared in this case. Bryan, supra, at 749.

Furthermore, the Appellant has not suggested how the lack of written finding would impact upon this particular proceeding.³ At worst, this error would require a temporary relinquishment to allow the trial court to set down any specific matter in writing. We are confident that the Court will find no need to take this additional step.

Accordingly, Issue I should be affirmed.

 $^{^{3}\,}$ Appellant could have raised this particular issue at the time of sentencing, but waived it and should not now be heard to complain at the eleventh hour.

ISSUE II

UNDER A PROPORTIONALITY REVIEW OF THIS CASE, A DEATH SENTENCE IS WARRANTED.

As the people of the State of Florida, sitting as jurors in criminal cases, continue their strong support in the imposition of capital punishment, the number of inmates on Florida's Death Row has grown. Thus, it is not surprising that on rare and isolated occasions this Court has utilized its authority as constitutional guardian of Eighth Amendment principles to declare certain cases portionally not suited for capital punishment. The standard utilized by this Court was first set down in *State u. Dixon*, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), and further clarified in *Brown u. Wainwright*, 392 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 1981), wherein the Court held:

> Our sole concern on evidentiary matters is to determine whether there was sufficient competent evidence in the record from which the judge and jury could properly find the presence of approaggravating mitigating priate or Ιf the circumstances. findings of aggravating and mitigating circumstances are so supported, if the jury's recommendation was not unreasonably rejected, and if the death sentence is not disproportionate to others properly sustainable under the statute, the trial court's sentence must be sustained even though, had we been triers and weighers of fact, we might have reached a different result in а independent evaluation.

Id. at 1331-32. Relying on *Menendez v. State*, 419 So.2d 312 (Fla. 1982), Appellant urges the Court to abandon its supervisory role in favor of an activist fact-finding position. The same cases and arguments presented in his Initial Brief were soundly

rejected by both the jury and Judge Pate. Their decision should be sustained on its record. *Bryan, supra,* at 749.

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